






AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 

Foreign Currency Translation 

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of our subsidiaries other than our Japan operations. The foreign currency asset 
and liability ammmts at these subsidiaries are remeasured into U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchange rates, except for 
nonmonetary items which are remeasured at historical rates. Foreign currency income and expenses are remeasured at 
daily exchange rates, except for expenses related to balance sheet amounts which are remeasured at historical exchange 
rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from remeasurement of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and 
liabilities are included in other (income) expense, net in the period in which they occur. 

The Japanese yen is the functional currency of our Japan operations. The asset and liabili ty amounts of our Japan 
operations are translated into U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchange rates. Income and expenses are translated into U.S. 
dollars at the daily exchange rate. The resulting translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) in the stockholders' equity section of the balance sheet. Assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are remeasured into the functional currency prior to 
translatiom into U.S. dollars, and the resulting transaction exchange gains or losses are included in other (income) 
expense, met in the period in which they occur. 

Risks and Concentrations 

The semiconductor industry is characterized by rapid technological change, competi tive pricing pressures and cyclical 
market pattems. Our financial results are affected by a wide variety of factors, including general economic conditions 
worldwide, economic conditions specific to the semiconductor industry, the timely implementation of new package and 
test teclmologies, the ability to safeguard patents and intellectual property in a rapidly evolving market and reliance on 
materials and equipment suppliers. In addition, the semiconductor market has historically been cyclucal and subject to 
significant economic downturns at various times. Our profitability and ability to generate cash from operations is 
principally dependent upom demand for semiconductors, the uti li zation of our capacity, semiconductor package mix, the 
average selling price of our services, our ability to manage our capital expenditures and our abili ty to control our costs 
including labor, material, overhead and financing costs. 

A significant portion of om revenues is concentrated with a small group of customers (Note 18). Direct sales to our two 
largest customers accounted for 30.8% and 10.2% of our net sales for the year ended December 31, 2024. The loss of a 
significant customer, a business combinat ion among customers, a reduction in orders or decrease in price from a 
significant customer or disruption in any of our significant strategic partnerships or other commercial arrangements could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. 

Financial instruments, for which we are subject to credit risk, consist principally of accounts receivable and cash, cash 
equivalents and short-term investments. With respect to accounts receivable, we mitigate our credit risk by selling 
primarily to well-established companies, performing ongoing credit evaluations and making frequent contact with 
customers. In addition, we may utilize non-recourse factoring when considered appropriate. We have historically 
mitigated our credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents through diversification of our holdings into various 
high quality money market funds and bank deposit accounts. Our short-term investments are principally investments in 
debt securities with maximum duration of twenty-four months and range from AAA to BB rated financial instruments. 
Our short-term investments are primarily in corporate bonds, direct obligations of the U.S. Govenunent or its agencies, 
asset-backed securities and commercial paper. At December 31, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents were prin1arily 
maintained in various U.S. and foreign bank operating and time deposit accmmts and invested in various available-for­
sale debt investments. See Note 6 for further discussion regarding our available-for-sale debt investments. 

Co11tingencies and Litigatio11 

We may be subject to cerLaiu legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims, as discussed in Note 17. We accrue for a loss 
contingency, including legal proceedings, nawsuits, pending claims and other legal matters, when we conclude that the 
likelihood of a loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. When the reasonable estimate of 
the loss is within a range of amounts, and no amount in the range constitutes a better estimate than any other amount, we 
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accrue for the amount at tile low end of the range. We adjust our accruals from time to time as we receive additional 
infonnation, but the loss we incur may be significantly greater than or less than the amowlt we have accrued. We 
disclose loss contingencies if we believe they are material and t11ere is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has 
been incurred. Attorney fees related to legal matters are expensed as incurred. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
Our cash and cash equivalents are primadly maintained in various U.S. and foreign bank operating. and time deposit 
accounts and invested in various available-for-sale debt invesnnents. See Note 6 for further discussion regarding our 
available-for-sale debt investments. 

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash, non-current, mainly consists of collateral to fulfill utility requirements. 

Investments 

Generally, we classify our sbort-tenn investments in fixed income securities as available-for-sale debt investments. All 
of our available-for-sale debt investments as of December 31, 2024 are available to fund current operations and are 
recorded at fair value (Note 6). Unrealized. gains and losses on our available-for-sale debt investments are included as a 
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. Realized gains and losses on our 
available-for-sale debt investments and declines in value judged to be an impairment are included in other (income) 
expense, net. The cost of short-term investments matured or sold is based on the average cost method. 

We evaluate on an ongoing basis the market conditions, trends o f earnings, financial condition, credit ratings, any 
underlying collateral and other key measures for our short-tenn investments in determining if and when a decline in 
value below the adjusted cost of our available-for-sale debt invesnnents is an impairment. An impainnent is considered 
if (i) we have the intent to sell the security, (ii) it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security 
before recovery of the entire amortized cost basis or (iii) we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of 
the security. If impairment is considered on condition (i) or (ii) above, the entire difference between the amortized cost 
and the fair value of the debt security is recognized in earnings. If impainnent is considered based on condition (iii), the 
amount representing credit losses will be recognized in earnings and as an allowance for credit losses. The amount 
relating to all other factors will be recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist of raw materials and purchased components and are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Cost is principa!Ey determined by standard cost or the weighted moving average method, both of which 
approximate actual cost. We review and set our standard costs as needed, but at a minimwn on a quarterly basis. We 
reduce the carrying value of om inventories for the cost of inventory we estimate is excess and obsolete based on the age 
of our inventories. When a determination is made that the inventory will not be utilized in production or is not saleable, 
it is written-of( 

Other Current Assets 

Other current assets consist principally of prepaid assets. 
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Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of depreciable assets which are as follows: 

Buildings and improvements 

Machinery and equipment 

Software and computer equipment 

Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 

I 0 to 40 years 

2 to 7 years 

3 to 5 years 

4 to 10 years 

We periodically assess the estimated useful lives of our property, plant and equipment. Based on our assessment of test 
equipment and its increased interchangeability enabling broader and longer use, we extended the estimated useful lives 
of test equipment from five years to seven years as of January 1, 2024. See Note 8 for further discussion of the estimated 
useful lives assessment. 

Cost and accumulated depreciation for property retired or disposed of are removed from the accounts, and any resulting 
gain or loss is included in earnings. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of a long-lived asset group to be held and used in operations is measured 
by a comparison of the carrying ammmt to the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and 
eventual disposition of the asset group. If such asset group is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is measured 
as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of 
are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less the costs of disposal. 

Grant Accounting 

From time to time, we may receive grants from governmental agencies. We recognize grants in our financial statements 
when there is reasonable assurance that we will comply with conditions attached to the grants and the grants will be 
received. Government grants are recognized in earnings on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity incurs 
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 

In 2024, we acquired approximately 56 acres of land related to the Arizona Facility with a total fair value of 
$36.9 million. In connection with this acquisition, we paid $4.2 million with the remaining amount obtained as a 
tangible non-monetary grant subject to the construction and operation of the Arizona Facility. We initially recorded the 
grant as a. deferred liability in other non-current liabilities, and subsequently it will be reclassified on a net basis against 
construction and operation costs. 

In August 2022, the U.S. government enacted the CHIPS Act, which provides funding for manufacturing grants and 
research investments and establishes a 25% invesnnent tax credit for certain invesnnents in U.S. semiconductor 
manufacturing. In 2024, we recorded $1.4 million of investment tax credits, which reduced the carrying amounts of the 
qualifying property, plant and equipment in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These invesnnent tax credits are recorded 
either as a reduction of current income taxes payable or as other assets. In December 2024, Commerce awarded us up to 
$407 million in direct funding pursuant to the CHIPS Act for the Arizona Facility. This award requires us to achieve 
construction and production milestones andl restrict us from undertaking certain activities. As of December 31 , 2024, no 
funding amounts have been received. 

Leases 

We lease certain machinery and equipment, office space, and manufacturing facilities. Leases with an initia l tenn of 12 
months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet, and we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line 
basis over the Lease term. We combine lease components (e.g., fixed payments including rent, real estate taxes and 
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insurance costs) with the lllOn-lease components (e.g., common-area maintenance costs) for all asset classes. We use our 
incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the lease commencement date to determine the lease 
liability. Our leases have remaining lease terms ranging from less than one year to 81 years. For purposes of calculating 
om lease liabilities, om lease terms include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we 
will exercise those options. Certain leases also include options or obligations to purchase the leased property. Total 
long-tenn finance lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were $122.7 million and 
$47.8 mj(]ion, respectively, and are included in other non-current liabilities. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is recorded when the cost of an acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets acquired. We review goodwill for impairment atmually during the fourth quarter of each year and whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate t11at an impairment may exist. Impairment losses are recorded when the 
carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The balance of goodwill in om Consolidated Balance Sheets 
reflects adjustments for foreign currency translation. 

Other Ass·ets 

Other assets consist principally of deferred tax assets, refundable security deposits and advanced payments to vendors. 

Derivatives 

We have foreign exchange risk related to monetary asset and liability positions at certain subsidiaries. To mi6gate the 
impacts of these exposures, we enter into foreign exchange forward contracts, generally settled monthly. We do not 
apply hedge accounting to these derivatives. The derivatives are recorded at the fair value either in other current assets 
or accrued expenses, with the associated gains and losses charged to other (income) expense, net in the period in which 
they occur. Gains and losses recognized on tllese derivatives are classified as operating activities and are included within 
other, net in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

We hedge certain net invesnnent positions in foreign subsidiaries. To accomplish tllis, we enter into foreign currency 
forward contracts, generally settled monthly, that are designated as hedges of net investments. The difference between 
the forward rate and the spot rate of the net investment hedge forward contracts is excluded from the assessment of 
hedge effectiveness and subsequently reported in other (income) expense, net on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
forward contmcts. These gains and losses are classified as operating activities and are included within other, net in our 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Changes in the fair value of the forward contracts are recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss) within foreign currency translation. 

See Note 15 for further discussion about the derivatives. 

Fair Value Mettsurements 

We apply fair value accounting for assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial 
statements on a recurring or nonrecurring basis. We define fair value as the price that would be received from selling an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. See Note 16 for further discussion of fair value 
measurements. 
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Revenue R ecognition 

We recognize revenue, net of sales, use, value-added and other simi lar taxes, as a performance obligation is satisfied in 
an amount reflecting the consideration to which we expect to be entitled. We apply a five-step approach in determining 
the amount and timing of revenue to be recognized: (1) identifying the contract with a customer; (2) identifying the 
performance obligations in the contract; (3) determining the transaction price; (4) allocating the transaction price to the 
performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognizing revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied. 
Substantially all of our revenue is recognized as services are rendered. 

Our packaging and test services are our performance obligations to our customers. Our packaging services include wafer 
bump, probe and assembly. We provide packaging and test services to our customers either individually or as part of a 
combined] offering. In a combined offering, we account for the individual services separately if they are determined to be 
distinct. We determine a service to be distinct if it is separately identifiable from other services in the combined offering 
and if a customer can benefit from the unique service on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the 
customer. 

The considemtion, including variable consideration, is allocated between the distinct services in a combined offering 
based upon the stand-alone selling prices of the individual services. Our services involve a high degree of specialization 
which are unique based on the design and purpose of the customer's wafers. Accordingly, our negotiated pricing reflects 
the customized nature of our services and represents a customer-specific stand-alone selling price. We recognize 
revenue as services are rendered, which generally occurs over the course of two to three weeks. Services are generally 
billed at completion of each individual packaging or test service or in some instances at the completion of all services in 
a combined offering. 

We recognize revenue over time as services are rendered because our services create or enhance the customer' s wafer. 
We utilize an input method (cost incurred plus estimated margin) to detennine the ammmt of revenue to recognize for in­
process, but incomplete, customer orders at a reporting date. During tJte period of providing our services, we generally 
do not control or take ownership of customers' wafers, nor do we include the cost of the wafer in our cost calculations. 
We believe that a cost-based input method is the most appropriate manner to measure how we satisfy our performance 
obligations to customers because the effort and costs incurred to package and/or test customer wafers are not linear over 
the duration of these services. 

Shipping and handling costs are accounted for as a cost to fulfill our performance obligations to customers. Accordingly, 
we record customer payments of shipping and handling costs as a component of net sales, and the costs incurred for 
shipping and handling are then charged to cost of sales. 

Unbilled receivables are revenues that have been recognized for performance obligations that have been satisfied, or 
partially satisfied, in advance of billing the customer. Revenue may be recognized in advance of billing as our contracts 
provide us with an unconditional right to consideration for work that is perfonned. Total unbilled receivables as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $210.1 million and $260.8 million, respectively. These amounts are included in 
accounts receivable, net of allowances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

At times, we receive cash payments from customers in advance or our performance. In such cases, we record deferred 
revenue until the performance obligation is satisfied, which represents a contract liability and is included in accrued 
expenses and other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. These contract liabilities are classified as 
either current or long-tenn based on the timing of when we expect to recognize revenue. Contract liabilities were $95.6 
million and $135.5 million as of December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023, respectively. As of December 31 , 2024 
and December 31, 2023, the short-tenn portion of the liability was $59.7 million and $71.1 million, respectively. The 
remainder of the December 31 , 2024 contract liability balance is expected to be recognized in revenue over the next 1-5 
years. Revenue recognized during the year that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the 
period was $66.0 million, $66.9 million, and $101.2 million, for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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Research and Development Costs 

Research and development expenses include costs attributable to the conduct of research and development programs 
primarily related to the development of new package designs or technologies and improving tlhe efficiency and 
capabilities of our existing production processes. Such costs include labor, materials, supplies, depreciation and 
maintenance of research equipment, services provided by outside contractors and the allocable portions of facility costs 
such as rent, utilities, insurance, repairs and maintenance, depreciation and general support services. Costs associated 
with research and development are expensed as incurred. 

Income TllXes 

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the fmancial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis as well as for net operating loss 
and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilitks are measured using enacted tax rates expected to 
apply to taxable income in the years in which these temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The 
effe.ct on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the 
enacnnent date. A valuation allowance is provided for those deferred tax assets for which it is more likely than not that 
the related tax benefits will not be realized. 

We monitor on an ongoing basis our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets and whether there is a need for a related 
valuation allowance. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets in the jurisdictions from wruch they 
arise, we consider all avanable positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, 
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies and recent results of operations. Witl1 t11e exception of a certain 
foreign jurisdiction and select U.S. and foreign carryforwards, we consider it more likely than not that we will have 
sufficient taxable income to allow us to realize these deferred tax assets. However, in the event taxable income falls 
short of current expectations, we may need to establish a valuation allowance against such deferred tax assets. 

We recognize in our Consolidated Financia l Statements the impact of an income tax position, if that position is more 
likely than not of being sUJstained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Related interest and penalties 
are classified as income taxes in the fmancial statements. See Note 4 for further discussion regarding unrecognized 
income tax benefits. 

Recently l ssuetf Standanls 

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 
2023-09, Income Taxes ([opic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures ("ASU 2023-09"). ASU 2023-09 
requires disclosure of additional income tax information, primarily related to effective tax rate reconciliation and income 
taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is 
permitted. Adoption of this ASU should be applied on a prospective basis, but retrospective application is permitted. 
The new standard will result in enhanced disclosures in our financial statements. 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income- Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses ("ASU 2024-03"), willch 
was subsequently amended and clarified. ASU 2024-03 requires disaggregation of key expense categories such as 
inventory purchases, employee compensation, depreciation and intangible asset amortization in the financial statements. 
ASU 2024-03 is effe.ctive for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within 
ammal reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is pennitted. Adoption of this ASU should 
be applied either prospectEvely after the effective date or retrospectively to any or all periods presented in the fmancial 
statements. We are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard on our financial statements, wlhich is expected to 
result in enhanced disclosures. 
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2. Share-Based Compensation Plans 

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we recognized share-based compensation of$18.4 million, $8.3 
million and $13.6 million, respectively, primarily in selling, general and administrative expenses. The amount of 
compensation expense to be recognized is adjusted for an estimated forfeiture rate which is based on historical data. The 
corresponding deferred income tax benefits are $2.4 million, $0.7 million and $1.7 mmion for 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

Equity Incentive Plans 

Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity incentive Plan. The Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive 
Plan (as amended, the "2007 Plan") provided for the grant of the following types of incentive awards: (i) stock options; 
(ii) restricted stock; (iii) restricted stock units; (iv) stock appreciation rights; (v) performance units and perfonnance 
shares; and (vi) other stock or cash awards. Those eligible for awards included employees, directors and consultants who 
provide services to Amkor and its subsidiaries. There were originally 17.0 million shares of our common stock reserved 
for issuance under the 2007 Plan. No awards have been or will be granted under the 2007 Plan after the effective date of 
the 2021 Plan (as defined below), but all outstanding awards under the 2007 Plan will continue in fum force and effect, 
subject to their original tenns. 

2021 Equity incentive Plan. On May 18, 2021 , at our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2021 Annual 
Meeting"), our stockholders approved the Alnkor Technology, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the "2021 
Plan") to replace the 2007 Plan. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of the following types of incentive awards: (i) 
stock options; (ii) restricted stock; (iii) restTicted stock units; (iv) stock appreciation rights; (v) perfonnance units and 
performance shares; and (vi) other stock or cash awards. Those eligible for awards include employees, directors and 
consultants who provide services to A.mkor and its subsidiaries. The number of shares authorized and available for 
issuance under the 2021 Plan is 23,100,000 shares, reduced for certain awards granted under the 2007 Plan after 
December 31, 2020, but before May 18, 2021. There were originally 22.8 million shares of our common stock reserved 
for issuance under the 2021 Plan, and at December 31 , 2024, there were 19.4 million shares available for grant under the 
2021 Plan. 

Stock options 

Stock options are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant. 
Substantially all of the options granted are exercisable pursuant to a one to four year vesting schedule, and the term of 
the options granted is no longer than ten years. Upon option exercise, we may issue new shares of common or treasury 
stock. 

In order to calculate the fair value of stock options at the date of grant, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
Expected volatilities are based on historical performance of our stock. We also use historical data to estimate the timing 
and amount of option exercises and forfeitures within the valuation model. The expected tenn of the options is based on 
evaluations of historical and expected future employee exercise behavior and represents the period of time that options 
granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is 
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The dividend yield is based on the annualized 
declared quarterly dividend rate divided by our closing stock price at the date of the grant. There have been no stock 
options granted since 2021 . 
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The following table summarizes our stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2024: 

Weighted-AveJ'age Aggregate 
Number of W cighted-A vnagc Remaining Intrinsic 

Shares .Exercise Pt·ice Contractual Term Value 
(In thousands) pet· Share (Years) (In thousands) 

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 ......... 2,031 $ 10.58 

Granted ............................... 

Exercised . . . . . . ..................... (396) 12.61 

Forfeited or expired ••••• 0 ••••••••••••••• (I 0) 13.49 

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 ......... 1,625 $ 10.07 3.45 years $ 25,380 

Fully vested at December 31, 2024 and 
expected to vest thereafter .............. 1,625 $ 10.07 3.45 years $ 25,380 

Exercisable at December 31, 2024 .......... 1,625 $ 10.07 3.45 years $ 25,380 

There was no unrecognized compensation expense from stock options as of December 31, 2024. The total intrinsic value 
of options exercised during fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $7.9 million, $5.8 million, and $8.0 million, 
respectively. 

Restricted stock units 

From time to time, and pursuant to the 2021 Plan, we grant time-vested restricted stock wtits ("RSUs") to our non­
employee directors and certain employees and performance-vested restricted stock Ul1lits ("PSUs") to certain employees. 
RSUs granted prior to 2024 generally vest in four equal insta.llments over a four-year period such that 100% of the RSUs 
will become vested on the fourth anniversary of the award, subject to the recipient's continued employment with us on 
the applicable vesting dates. The general vesting period for RSUs granted since the sta.rt of 2024 decreased to three 
years. Jn some circumstances, we have granted RSUs subject to different vesting conditions, including RSUs that vest in 
a single installment or on a ratable schedule. Provided that the RSUs have not been forfeited earlier, they will generally 
vest upon the recipient's retirement, death or disability, or upon a change in control of Amkor, in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the applicable award agreement. The value of the RSUs is detennined based on the fair market 
value of the underlying shares on the date of the grant, reduced by the present value of dividends or dividend equivalent 
rights expected to be paid on our common stock prior to vesting, and is recognized ratably over the vesting period. 

PSUs granted prior to 2024 generally vest in one installment after a two-yea.r period such that any earned PSUs will 
become vested within 90 days of the second anniversary of the awa.rd, subject to the recipient's continued employment 
with us on the applicable vesting date. Generally for these PSUs, the number of shares of our common stock to be 
received at vesting will range from 0% to 200% of the target grant amount based on Cumulative Basic EPS (as defined in 
the applicable award agreement) over a two-year perfonnance measurement period. In some circumstances, we have 
granted PSUs subject to different vesting conditions, including PSUs that vest in full upon the achievement of 
performance goals other than Cumulative Basic EPS. 

Jn 2024, we granted PSUs that were divided between PSUs based on earnings per share in each of 2024, 2025 and 2026 
("EPS PSUs"), and PSUs based on relative total shareholder return ("rTSR PSUs") as compared to the components of the 
PHLX Semiconductor Index (the "SOX") over a three-year period, with half of the awards as EPS PSUs and half as 
rTSR PSUs. EPS PSUs will vest in three iinstallments over a three-year period such that any earned PSUs will become 
vested within 90 days of each yea.r ending 2024, 2025 and 2026, subject to the recipient's continued employment with us 
on the applicable vesting dates. For EPS PSUs, the number of shares of our common stock to be received at vesting wi II 
range from 0% to 225% of the target grant amOtmt. The rTSR PSUs will vest in one installment after a three-year period 
and the number of shares of our common stock to be received at vesting will range from 0% to !50% of the target grant 
amount based on rTSR perfonnance over the three-year performance period. 

Provided the PSUs have not been forfeited earlier, the PSUs will generally vest upon the recipient's retirement, death or 
disability, or upon a change of control of Amkor, in accordance with the tenns and conditions of the applicable award 
agreement. For the PSUs granted prior to 2024 and the EPS PSUs, the value is initially detennined based on the fair 
market value of the underlying shares on the date of the grant, reduced by the present value of dividends expected to be 
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paid on our common stock prior to vesting. For U1e rTSR PSUs, we estimated the grant-date fair value using a Monte 
Carlo simulation model, using U1c following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4.33% and 
annualized volatility of 46.77%. We recognize the grant date fair value of Ute PSUs as compensation expense ratably 
over the vesting period. 

The following table summarizes our RSU and PSU activity: 

Non-vested at December 31, 2021 ........................................ . 

Awards granted 

Awards vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . ...................................... . 

Awards forfeited ..................................................... . 

Non-vested at December 31, 2022 

Awards granted 

A wards vested . 

Awards forfeited 

Non-vested at December 31, 2023 ........................................ . 

Awards granted ...................................................... . 

Awards vested ... . .......................................... . 

Awards forfeited ..................................................... . 

Non-vested at December 31, 2024 ........................................ . 

Number of 
Shares 

(In thousands) 

286 

531 

(22) 

(57) 

738 

1,049 

(464) 

(16) 

1,307 

1,026 

(489) 

(217) 

1,627 
======'=== 

Weighted-
ave1·age 

Grant Date 
Fair Value 
(Per Share) 

$ 22.48 

22.29 

22.23 

22.63 

22.34 

26.72 

22.19 

25.24 

25.87 

29.00 

27.37 

24.62 

$ 27.56 

Total unrecognized compensation expense from RSUs and PSUs was $16.5 million as of December 31 , 2024, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.78 years beginning January I, 2025. 

For the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022 the total fair values of vested RSUs and PSUs were $15.5 
million, $11.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively. 

3. Other Income and Expense 

Other income and expense consists of the following: 

Fo1· the Year E nded Decembe1· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Interest income $ (65,541) $ (48,458) $ (12,762) 

Foreign currency (gain) loss, net ............................ . 8,856 18,361 (1,572) 

Loss on debt retirement . . . . .............................. . 464 

Other ................................................. . (821) (2,457) (4,439) 

(57,506) $ (32,554) $ (18,309) Total other (income) expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . =$========= ============ =========== 
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4. Income Taxes 

Geographic sources of income (loss) before taxes are as follows: 

United States 

Foreign 

$ 

For· tlltc Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

81 ,289 $ 94,643 $ 

349,727 349,198 

2022 

81 ,488 

775,444 

431,016 $ 443,841 $ 856,932 Income before taxes .................................... ,;$==~~~ ,;;,=~~~= ,;~=~~~ 

The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows: 

I' or tlile Year Ended December 31, 

Current: 

Federal 

State 

Foreign 

Deferred: 

Federal . 

State ... 

................................... $ 

2024 

7,898 

34 

68,333 

76,265 

153 

(501) 

Foreign .............................................. . (436) 
---------'---=--

(784) 

2023 

(In thousands) 

$ 19,831 $ 

7 

48,478 

68,316 

8,899 

4,494 

13,394 

2022 

40,063 

150 

61,300 

101,513 

(10,156) 

1,458 

(2,925) 

(11 ,623) 

75,481 $ 81 ,710 $ 89,890 Income tax expense ....................................... =$====== ========= ======= 

The reconciliation between the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% and our effective tax rate is as follows: 

For tti1e Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0% 

Foreign income taxed at different rates ....................... . (2.1) (4.2) (12.0) 

Foreigt1 exchange (loss) gain ............................... . 1.4 0.5 2.2 

Change in valuation allowance ............................. . (1.8) 2.9 (2.4) 

Income tax credits generated ............................... . (6.8) (7.5) (6.1) 

Foreign earnings and profits ............................... . 3.5 7.0 9.0 

Foreign derived intangible income .......................... . (1.8) (1.6) (0.9) 

Settlements and changes in uncertain tax positions .............. . 3.8 (0.5) (0.2) 

Other ............................................ . 0.3 0.8 (0.1) 
------

17.5% 18.4% 10.5 % Income tax expense ....................................... ====== ====== ====== 

In 2022, we reversed $17.8 million of valuation allowance recorded against U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards 
previously projected to expire unused due to the limitations to utilize the credits under current tax law. Realization of 
these carryforwards is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income to overcome tlle foreign tax credit limitation 
provisions. Although utilization of these carryforwards is not assured, in light of our current earnings and recent 
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estimates of future taxable income, management believes sufficient positive evidence exists to conclude that the 
respective valuation allowances are no longer needed, resulting in the reversal of these valuation allowances. 

As a result of certain capital investments, export commitments and employment levels, income from operations in Korea, 
Singapore and Vietnam was subject to reduced income tax rates and, in some cases, was exempt from income taxes. The 
most signiftcant tax rate impact is in Singapore where we have been granted a conditional reduced tax rate that expires at 
the end of 2028. We recognized $33.2 million, $18.6 million amd $84.5 million in tax benefits as a result of the 
conditional reduced tax rates in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The benefit of the conditional reduced tax rates on 
diluted earnings per share was approximately $0.13, $0.08 and $0.34 for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

The following is a summary of the components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

December 31, 

2024 

(In thousands) 

Deferred tax assets: 

Net operating loss carryforwards 

Tax credit carryforwards . 

..................................... $ 21 ,420 

Property, plant and equipment 

Deferred interest expense ............................................. . 

Accrued liabilities . 

Receivable . 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss . . . . . . . . 

Operating lease liabilities ............................................. . 

Other ............................................................. . 

Total deferred tax assets ................................................ . 

Valuation allowance ................................................. . 

Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance ........................... . 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Property, plant and equjpment ......................................... . 

Deferred gain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .... . 

Unrealized foreign exchange gain ....................................... . 

Unbilled receivables ................................................. . 

Operating lease right of use assets ...................................... . 

Other ............................................................. . 

Total deferred tax liabilities .............................................. . 

69,373 

18,512 

446 

37,968 

27,284 

23,769 

14,825 

14,203 

227,800 

(107,113) 

120,687 
------'---

27,442 

3,341 

6,674 

6,508 

14,240 

6,560 
------'---

64,765 
-----'---

55,922 Net deferred tax assets ................................................... =$===='==== 

Recognized as: 

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 72,488 

Other non-current liabilities ........................................... . (16,566) 
----=----'---'-

55,922 Total ................................................................. $ 
======= 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2023 

33,679 

88,147 

21 ,387 

476 

37,832 

30,086 

7,205 

16,053 

15,219 

250,084 

(114,811) 

135,273 

34,206 

5,739 

3,129 

8,995 

16,031 

5,533 

73,633 

61 ,640 

73,585 

(11 ,945) 

61 ,640 

We monitor on an ongoing basis our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets and whether there is a need for a related 
valuation allowance. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets in the jurisdictions from which they 
arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, 
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies and recent results of operations. 
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Valuation allowance against deferred tax assets consist of the following: 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

Valuation allowance: 

U.S. ................................................ $ 44,853 $ 44,426 

Foreign ........................................................... . 62,260 
----'-----

70,385 

Total valuation allowance . . . .............................. . 

Our net operating loss carry forwards arc as follows: 

U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards 

U.S. state net operating loss carry forwards 

.................. $ 

Foreign net operating loss carryforwards ..................... . 

$ 

December 31, 

2024 

(In thousands) 

$ 

27,334 

207,203 

107,113 $ 114,811 

2023 Expiration 

5,611 2024 

32,612 2025-2036 

196,636 2025-2031 

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, a portion of our remaining U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards was reserved 
with a valuation allowance due to ownership change limitations from a prior year acquisition as well as certain state net 
operating loss carryforwards expected to expire unused. Also, we have a valuation allowance against foreign net 
operating loss carry forwards that we do not expect to have sufficient taxable income to realize as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023. 

Our tax credit carryforwards arc as follows: 

U.S. Foreign Tax Credits 

U.S. Other Tax Credits 

Foreign Tax Credits 

$ 

December 31, 

2024 

(In thousands) 

49,639 $ 

3,817 

19,543 

2023 Expiration 

51,512 2027-2034 

2,559 2026-2034 

34,546 2025-2034 

At December 31 , 2024 and 2023, a portion of our U.S. and foreign tax credit carryforwards were reserved with a 
valuation allowance for the amow1t expected to expire unused. 

Distributions of cash to the U.S. as dividends generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. We have not 
provided foreign withholding taxes or state income taxes on the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries, over 
which we have sufficient influence to control the distribution of such earnings and have detemlined that substantially all 
such earnings have been reinvested indefmitely. These earnings could become subject to foreign withholding tax if they 
arc remitted as dividends. For the year ended December 31 , 2024, we estimate that repatriation of these foreign earnings 
would generate withholding taxes and state income taxes of approximately $160 million. 

We operate in and file income tax returns iin various U.S. and foreign jurisdictions which are subject to examination by 
tax authorities. We have tax returns that are open to examination in various jurisdictions for tax years 2013-2024. The 
open years contain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations related 
to the amount and/or timing of income, deductions and tax credits. There can be no assurance that the outcome of 
examinations will be favorable. Our Wlrecognized tax benefits are subject to change as examinations of specific tax 
years are completed in the respective jurisdictions. In certain circumstances where we elect to appeal the results of an 
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examination, we may be required to make tax assessment payments to proceed with the administrative appeal process. 
Current exarninations include 2017-2021 Malaysia income tax returns and 2021 Philippine income tax return. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows: 

For tlhc Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Balance at January 1 ...................................... $ 31,537 $ 33,253 $ 37,293 

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 7,260 1,519 

Additions for tax positions of prior years . ... .. ..... .. . .. .... 3,761 495 1,909 

Reductions for tax positions of prior years ................... (4,992) (345) (5,755) 

Reductions related to settlements with tax authorities ..... 0 •• 0 (789) (988) 

Reductions from lapse of statutes of limitations ............... (461) (1 ,866) (725) 

Balance at December 31 •••••••••••••••••• 0 •••••• 0 ••••••••• $ 36,316 $ 31 ,537 $ 33,253 

The net increase in our unrecognized tax benefits was $4.8 million from December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2024. The 
increase was primarily related to income attribution. At December 31,2024, $32.7 million of our gross unrecognized tax 
benefits would reduce our effective tax rate, if recognized. It is reasonably possilble that unrecognized tax benefits 
primarily related to income attribution will decrease in the next 12 months by up to $6.6 million due to the lapse of 
statutes of limitations in foreign jurisdictions. 

The liability related to our unrecognized tax benefits, before interest and penalties, was $21.9 million as of December 31, 
2024 and is reported as a component of other non-current liabilities. The unrecognized tax benefits presented in the table 
above also include positions that have reduced deferred tax assets by $14.4 million. The balance of accrued and unpaid 
interest and penalties was $4.5 million as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 and is included as a component of other non­
current liabilities in connection with our unrecognized tax benefits. 

5. Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share CEPS") is computed by dividing net income attributable to Amkor common stockholders by the 
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding is reduced for treasury stock. 

Diluted EPS is computed based on the weighted-average nwnber of common shares outstanding plus the effect of 
dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares include outstanding 
stock options, PSUs, RSUs and unvested restricted shares. 
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The following table summarizes the computations of basic and diluted EPS: 

For t lile Yea•· E nded Decembe1· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands, except per sha1·e data) 

Net income attributable to Amkor common stockholders ........ $ 

Weighted-average number of common shru-es outstanding- basic .. 

Effect of dilutive securities: ........................ . 

Share-based awards ............................ . 
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding-
diluted .................................... . 

Net income attributable to Amkor per comn1on share: 

Basic ................................................ $ 

Diluted ............................................... $ 

359,813 354,012 ,.;$=~~~ 

246,344 

1,474 

247,818 

1.44 $ 

1.43 $ 

245,628 

1,548 

247, 176 

1.46 

1.46 

$ 765,823 

244,676 

1,529 

246,205 

$ 3.13 

$ 3.11 

The following table summarizes the potential shares of common stock that were excluded from diluted EPS, because the 
effect of including these potential shares was anti-dilutive: 

Fm· the Year E nded December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Share-based awards ...................................... . 2 180 
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6. Investments 

The following table summarizes our cash equivalents and available-for-sale debt investments: 

December 31,2024 

Fair Value Level 

Amortized C r·oss C r·oss Tota l Fair 
Cost Unr·eali:r.cd Unrealized Value Level l Lcvcl 2 

Gains Losses (1) 

(In thousands) 

Cash equivalents 

Commercial paper .............. $ 53, 110 $ $ $ 53,110 $ $ 53, 110 

Corporate bonds ............... 755 755 755 

Money market funds .. •••• 0 0 •• 146,679 146,679 146,679 

U.S. government bonds .......... 16,450 4 16,454 16,454 

Total cash equivalents (2) ..... 216,994 4 216,998 163,133 53,865 

Short-term investments 

Asset-backed securities .......... 63,256 168 (1 ,038) 62,386 62,386 

Certificate of deposits ........... 15,121 15,121 15,121 

Commercial paper .............. 36,829 36,829 36,829 

Corporate bonds ............... 258,191 567 (1 01) 258,657 258,657 

Foreign government bonds ....... 1,590 1,590 1,590 

Mortgage-backed securities ....... 11,159 2 (18) 11 ,143 11, 143 

Municipal bonds 1,007 2 1,009 1,009 

U.S. government agency bonds 11,392 (25) 11,367 11,367 

U.S. government bonds .......... 110,522 102 ( 170) 110,454 110,454 -- ----
Total short-term investments 509,067 841 (1,352) 508,556 125,575 382,981 

Total ................... $ 726,061 $ 845 $ (1 ,352) $ 725,554 $ 288,708 $ 436,846 
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Oecember 31,2023 

Fair Value Level 

Gross Gt·oss 
Amortized Unrealized Um·calizcd Total Fair 

Cost Gains Losses (1) Value Level l Level2 

(In thousands) 

Cash equivalents 

Asset-backed securities • a • • • • $ 138 $ $ $ 138 $ $ 138 

Commercial paper .............. 48,063 48,063 48,063 

Money market funds ............. 60,719 60,719 60,719 

US government bonds 0 •••••••••• 2,996 2,996 2,996 

Total cash equivalents (2) ...... 111,916 I 11,916 63,715 48,201 

Short-tem1 investments 

Asset-backed securities ........... 65,340 170 (22) 65,488 65,488 

Certificate of deposits 17,086 17,086 17,086 

Commercial paper .......... 56,273 56,273 56,273 

Corporate bonds .... ............ 251,671 432 (299) 251,804 251,804 

U.S. government agency bonds .... 13,200 (9) 13,191 13,191 

U.S.goverrunentbonds 0 •••••• 0 •• 65,881 13 (79) 65,815 65,815 

Total short-term investments .... 469,451 615 (409) 469,657 82,901 386,756 

Total .................... $ 581,367 $ 615 $ (409) $ 581,573 $ 146,616 $ 434,957 

(l) All unrealized losses have been in a contiJ1uous loss position for less than 12 months. We do not intend to sell 
the investments in an unrealized loss position, and we do not believe it is more likely than not that we will be 
required to sell these investments before recovery of their amortized cost bases. 

(2) During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 we sold cash equivalent investments for proceeds 
of$29.8 million, $47.0 million and $29.6 million, respectively, and realized no gain or loss on such sales. 

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of our cash equivalents and available-for-sale debt 
investments as of December 31, 2024: 

Amortized Cost Fair Value 

Within I year . $ 493,164 $ 493,511 

After I year through 5 years .............................. . 158,482 158,514 

Asset- and mortgage-backed securities ...................... . 74,415 73,529 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 726,061 ~$=====7=2=5,~5=54= 

Actual maturities can differ from contractual maturities due to various factors illcludillg whether the issuers have the 
right to call or prepay obligations without call or prepayment penalties, and we view our available-for-sale debt 
investments as available for current operations. 

As of December 31, 2024, the amortized cost and fair market value of our held-to-maturity government bonds (Level I) 
maturing within a year were $4.4 million. As of December 31, 2023 the amortized cost and fair market value of our 
held-to-maturity government bonds (Level 1) maturing within a year were $5.2 million. 
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7. Factoring of Accounts Receivable 

For certain accounts receivable, we use non-recourse factoring arrangements witb third-party financial institutions to 
manage our working capital and cash flows. Under these arrangements, we sell receivables to a financial institution for 
cash at a discowlt to the face amount. As part of the factoring arrangements, we perform certain collection and 
administrative functions for the receivables sold. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we sold accounts 
receivable totaling $158.6 million and $253.9 million, net of discounts and fees of $0.4 million and $1.3 million, 
respectively. 

8. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following: 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

Land 

Buildings and improvements . 

Machinery and equipment . 

. ... . .... 00 ............. $ 246,953 

2,239,481 

7,389,787 

Finance Lease assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 274,302 

Furniture, fixtures and other equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,652 

Software and computer equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 • 0 0 0 0 • 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 215,031 

Construction in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 185,351 

Total property, plant and equipment ................ 0...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,569,557 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization ............ 0.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,993,409) 

Total property, plant and equipment, net ... 0 ••••• 0 •• 0 •••••••••• 0 •••••••••• ..;$=..;3.;,,5;.,7,.;6.;,,1;.,4..;8= 

During 2024, we acquired land for the Arizona Facility with a totan fair market value of $36.9 million. 
beginning construction of the new facility in the second half of2025. 

The following table summarizes our depreciation expense: 

$ 212,722 

2,080,589 

7,022,614 

209,506 

22,655 

200,362 

223,332 

9,971,780 

(6,672,335) 

$ 3,299,445 

We anticipate 

For tlltc Year E nded December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Depreciation expense . . .. ........ $ 594,141 $ 630,941 $ 612,105 

The extension in tbe estimated useful lives of test equipment (Note I) reduced depreciation expense by approximately 
$59 million in 2024. This benefited net income by approximately $49 million and diluted earnings per share by $0.20. 
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9. Leases 

The components oflease expense were as follows: 

Fot· the Year E nded December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

Operating lease cost ..... . $ 40,110 $ 70,722 $ 

Finance lease cost 

Amortization of leased assets .......................... . 35,290 42,345 

Interest on lease liabilities ............................ . 9,138 5,521 

Total finance lease cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,428 47,866 

Short-term lease cost .................................. . 4,599 4,788 

................................. 7,409 
------'---

6,921 Variable lease cost 

Net lease cost 96,546 .................................. $ 
===~=== 

$ 130,297 $ 

Other information related to leases was as fo!Jows: 

Su(Jplemental Cash Flows Information (in thousands) 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease 
liabilities: 

Operating cash flows for operating leases 

Operating cash flows for fmance leases 

Financing cash flows for fmance leases 

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term (years) 

Operating leases ................................ . 

Finance leases ................................. . 

Weighted Average Discount Rate 

Operating leases ................................... . 

Finance leases ..................................... . 

77 

$ 

Fot· t he Year E nded Decembet· 31, 

2024 

39, Ill 

8,736 

72,255 

6.0 

3.9 

5.8% 

6.3% 

$ 

2023 

73,774 

5,419 

66,398 

6.1 

3.2 

5.2% 

5.7% 

$ 

2022 

81,410 

24,644 

3,891 

28,535 

5,749 

6,592 

122,286 

2022 

81,044 

3,933 

40,673 

4.2 

2.3 

4.4% 

4.1% 
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Maturities of lease liabilities were as fo llows: 

D ccembe•· 31,2024 

Operating L eases F inance L eases 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

Thereafter 

........................ $ 

................ -----
Total future minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . 

Less: Imputed interest ................................. . 

Total ............................................. $ 

(In thousands) 

30,852 $ 65,666 

23,072 52,194 

I 6,258 32,624 

6,615 17,433 

4,803 23,836 

16,884 12,618 

98,484 204,37l 

Q 3,674] (26,050] 

84,810 =$=====1=7=8,=32=1= 

As of December 31, 2024, we have entered into additional lease agreements that have not yet commenced of 
approximately $22 million. 

10. Accrued Expenses 

Accrued expenses consist of the following: 

Deccmbu 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

Payroll and benefits ..................................................... $ 121 ,683 $ 115,604 

Deferred revenue and customer advances 59,656 71 ,117 

Short-tenn finance lease liability ................................. . 55,613 57,761 
Income taxes payable . . . . . . . . . . ............ . 35,067 35,215 

Accrued pension and severance obligations (Note 12) .......... . 13,091 7,906 
Accrued interest . . .......... . 11,487 11,175 

Other accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ...................... . 59,740 59,636 

Total accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 356,33 7 =$==3=58=,4=1=4= 
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11. Debt 

Short-term borrowings and long-term debt consist of the following: 

Debt of Amkor Technology, Inc.: 

Senior notes: 

6.625% Senior notes, due September 2027 

Debt of subsidiaries: 

Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.: 

Term loan, fixed rate at 3.95%, due May 2027 (l) 

Term loan, fixed rate at 2.12%, due December 2028 .................... . 

Amkor Technology Japan, Inc.: 

Short-tenn term loans, variable rate (2) .............................. . 

Term loan, fixed rate at 1.35%, due December 2024 

Term loan, flxed rate at 1.20%, due December 2025 

Term loan, fixed rate at 1.23%, due December 2026 ................... . 

Term loan, fixed rate at 1.59%, due December 2027 .................... . 

Term loan, fixed rate at 1.80%, due December 2028 .................... . 

Term loan, fixed rate at 2.05%, due December 2029 (3) ................. . 

Amkor Assembly & Test (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.: 

Term loans, SOFR plus 0.75%, due June 2025 

Term loans, SOFR plus 0.75%, due 2025 

Term loans, SOFR plus 0.95%, due December 2026 (4) . 

Other: 

Senior secured revolving credit facility, applicable bank rate plus 1.75%, due 
March 2027 (Singapore) (5) .................................. . 

Less: Unamortized discount and deferred debt costs, net ... 

Less: Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt ............... . 

$ 

Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 

Dccembcr31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

525,000 $ 

200,000 

13,868 

33,333 

59,923 

89,059 

108,779 

35,000 

55,500 

44,000 

1,164,462 

(5,002) 

525,000 

200,000 

5,098 

40,414 

30,913 

55,729 

89,053 

124,078 

37,000 

57,500 

45,000 

1,209,785 

(6,329) 

(236,029) (131 ,624) 

923,431 $ 1,071 ,832 

(I) In April 2021 , we entered into a W80 billion term loan agreement with the option to borrow andre-borrow the 
funds up to six times per year through April 2024 at a fixed rate of 1.85%. In May 2024, we replaced this loan 
by entering into a W80.0 billion (approximately $59 million) term loan agreement with the option to borrow 
and re-borrow the funds up to six times per year through May 2027. Principal is payable at maturity, and 
interest is payable monthly, at a fixed rate of3.95%. During the year ended December 31 , 2024, we borrowed 
$58.7 million, which we immediately repaid. As of December 31 , 2024, W80.0 billion, or approximately 
$54 million, was available to be drawn. 

(2) We entered into various short-term term loans which mature semiannually. Principal and interest are payable in 
monthly installments. As of December 31,2024, $6.0 million was available to be drawn. 

(3) In December 2024, we borrowed ¥1 7.1 billion (US$113.9 million) under a new term loan agreement due 
December 2029, guaranteed by Amkor Technology, Inc. and our subsidiary, ATSH. Principal is due in 20 
equal, quarterly installments plus accmed interest, through maturity. 
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(4) Tn Febmary 2024, Amkor Assembly & Test (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. amended the tcnn loan due December 2026 to 
reduce the interest rate from SOFR plus 1.40% to SOFR plus 0.95%. This contractual amendment is treated as 
a modification with no recognized gain or loss. 

(5) in March 2022, ATSH entered into the 2022 Singapore Revolver, which is guaranteed by Amkor Technology, 
lnc., ATT and AATT. The maximum borrowing capacity under the 2022 Singapore Revolver is limited to a 
base amount equal to the lesser of: (l) $600.0 million; or (2) $250.0 million plus a variable amount equal to 
37.5% of our consolida.ted accounts receivable balance. As of December 31 , 2024, $600.0 million was 
available for future borrowings under !J1c 2022 Singapore Revolver. 

Certain of our foreign debt is collateralized by the land, buildings, equipment and accOtmts receivable in the respective 
locations. As of December 31 , 2024 the collateralized debt balance was $639.5 million, of which $286.1 million of 
assets were pledged as collateral. 

Interest Rates 

Interest is payable semiannually on our senior notes and quarterly or mon!J1ly on our other fixed- and variable-rate debt. 
Refer to the table above for the interest rates on our Oxed-ratc debt and to the table below for the interest rates on our 
variable-rate debt. 

Decem be•· 31, 

2024 2023 

Amkor Technology Japan, Inc: 

Sbort-tcnn term loans, variable rate -% 0.24% 

Amkor Assembly & Test (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.: 

Term loans, SOFR plus 0.75% due June 2025 ............................. . 5.15% 6.07% 

Term loans, SOFR plus 0.75%, due 2025 ................................ . 5.15% 6.07% 

Term loans, SOFR plus 0.95%, due December 2026 ............ . 5.28% 6.76% 

Compliance with Debt Covenants 

The debt of Amkor Technology, Inc. is structurally subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future debt and 
other liabilities of our subsidiaries. From time to time, Amkor Technology, Inc., ATT, AATT and ATSH guarantee 
certain debt of our subsidiaries. The agreements governing our indebtedness contain affirmative and negative covenants 
which restrict our ability to pay dividends and could restrict our operations. These restrictions arc determined in part by 
calculations based upon cumulative net income and do not currently have a material impact on our ability to make 
dividend payments or stock repurchases. 

We were in compliance with all debt covenants at December 31 , 2024 and 2023. 
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Maturities 

Payments due for the year ending December 31, 

Total Debt 

(In thousands) 

2025 - - - - - - - - . . . . . . .. - ... - . - - - .. - ... - .. - ... - .. - - .. - ... - . $ 236,029 

173,662 

638,995 

2026 .................................... - ..... - ........................... . 

2027 ....................................... - ... - ............... - ...... - .... . 

2028 ................ - ................................. - ........................... . 

2029 ................ - ..... - ... - ...................... - ........................ - .. . 

Thereafter ......................................................................... . 

94,020 

21,756 

------

Total debt ........................................................................ =$==1~,1=64~,4=6=2= 

12. Pension and Severance Plans 

Korean Severance Plan 

Our subsidiary in Korea maintains an unfunded severance plan that covers certain employees that were employed prior to 
August 1. 2015. To the extent eligible employees are terminated, our subsidiary in Korea would be required to make 
lump-sum severance payments on behalf of these eligible employees for service provided prior to August 1, 2015. 
Factors used to determine severance benefits include employees' length of service, seniority and rate of pay. The 
employees' length of service and seniority are fixed as of July 31,2015. The employees' rate of pay is adjusted to the 
rate of pay at the time of termination. Accrued severance benefits are estimated assuming all eligible employees were to 
terminate their employment at the balance sheet date. Our contributions to the National Pension Plan of the Republic of 
Korea arc deducted from accrued severance benefit liabilities. On August 1, 2015, our subsidiary in Korea began 
sponsoring a defined benefit pension plan and a defined contribution plan. Existing employees at that time were given 
the option of choosing either a defmed benefit pension plan or a defmed contribution plan for their future benefits and 
new employees since that date are enrolled in a defmed contribution plan. 

The changes to the balance of our accrued severance plan obligations are as follows: 

t<o1· the Year Ended Decembe1· 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

Balance at January I ............... $ 47,906 $ 56,289 

Provision of severance benefits ......................................... . 3,142 1,653 

Severance paytnents ................................................. . (1 ,416) (8,770) 

Foreign currency (gain) loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... . (6,194) (1,266) 

Balance at December 31 43,438 47,906 

Payments remaining with the National Pension Fund ....................... . (101) (119) 

Total accrued severance plan obligations at December 31 ...................... . 43,337 47,787 

Less current portion of accrued severance plan obligations (Note l 0) (l) .......... . 12,231 7,906 

31,106 $ 39,881 Non-current portion ofaccmed severance plan obligations ...................... =$====~== ====~~= 

( I) In December 2024, some employees accepted our offer to convert their Korean severance and defined benefit 
pension plan participalion to a defined contribution plan. This will result in the conversion of approximately $5 
million of obligations from our Korean severance plan to a defined contribution plan, which is expected to be 
ft.mded during the fiJst quarter of2025. 
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Foreign Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

Our subsidiaries in Japan, Korea, Malaysia, the Philippines and Taiwan sponsor defined benefit plans (the "Plans"). 
Charges to expense are based upon actuarial analyses. The following table summarizes the changes to the Plans' benefit 
obligations, fair value of the Plans' assets and the funded status of the Plans at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

Change in projected benefit obligation: 

Projected benefit obligation at January 1 

Service cost ........................................................ . 

Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... . 

Benefits paid ....................................................... . 

Actuarial (gain) loss ................................................. . 

Effects of curtailment ................................................ . 

Settlement ......................................................... . 

foreign exchange (gain) loss .......................................... . 

Projected benefit obligation at December 31 

Change in plan assets: 

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 .................................... . 

Actual gain (loss) on plan assets ........................................ . 

Employer contributions .............................................. . 

Settlement ......................................................... . 

Benefits paid ....................................................... . 

foreign exchange gain (loss) .......................................... . 

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 ................................ . 

$ 

For tbc Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

164,281 $ 159,760 

13,645 15,032 

5,718 6,202 

(11,320) (14,056) 

2,458 4,150 

(320) (617) 

(883) (1,073) 

(14,423) (5,117) 

159,156 164,281 

129,196 127,338 

8,918 12,325 

12,165 7,368 

(883) (1,073) 

(11,320) (14,056) 

(12,794) (2,706) 

125,282 129,196 

(33,874) Funded status of the Plans at December 31 ................................... $ ========= $ (35,085) 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of: 

Prepaid benefit cost (included in non-current assets) ........................ . $ 5,991 $ 12,039 

Accmed benefit liability (included in pension and severance obligations) (1) ..... . (39,865) (47,124) 

$ (33,874) $ (35,085) Net amowlt recognized at year end ......................................... ====~====~ ='===""==~~ 

(1) As of December 31, 2024,$0.9 million was recognized in accmed expenses. 

The accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $123.4 million and $128.3 million, 
respectively. 
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The following table summarizes, by component, the change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of 
tax related to our Plans: 

Pdor Scr·vicc Actuadal Net 
Cost Gain (Loss) 

(In thousands) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 ••••••••••••• 0 $ 602 $ 13,618 $ 

Amortization and settlement gain included in net periodjc pension cost .. (46) 

Net gain (loss) arising during period .............. 1,731 

Adjustments to unrealized components of defined benefit pension plan 
included in other comprehensive income (loss) .......... ..... 1,685 

Balance at December 31, 2023 .................................... $ 602 $ 15,303 $ 

Amortization and settlement gain included in net periodic pension cost .. (388) 

Net gain (loss) arising during period ............................. 1,053 

Adjustments to unrealized components of defmed benefit pension plan 
included in other comprehensive income (loss) ................ 665 

Balance at December 31, 2024 •••••••• 0 0 ••• 0. 0 0 0 •• 0 ••••••••••••••• $ 602 $ 15,968 $ 

Information for pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets is as follows: 

December· 31, 

2024 

n n thousands) 

Plans with underfunded or non-funded projected benefit obligation: 

Aggregate projected benefit obligation ................................... . $ 92,191 $ 

Aggregate fair value of plan assets ...................................... . 52,326 

Plans with underfunded or non-funded accumulated benefit obligation: 

Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation ................................ . 55,646 

Aggregate fajr value of plan assets 20,122 

The following table summarizes total pension expense: 

I' or tlile Year E nded December 31, 

Components of net perioclic pension cost and total pension expense: 

Service cost 

Interest cost 

Expected return on plan assets 

........ $ 

Recogllized actuarial (gain) loss .......................... . 

Net periodic pension cost .............................. . 

Curtailment (gain) loss ................................. . 

2024 

13,645 

5,718 

(5,554) 

(462) 

13,347 

(320) 

2023 

(In thousands) 

$ 15,032 $ 

6,202 

(5,144) 

(156) 

15,934 

(617) 

Total 

14,220 

(46) 

1,731 

1,685 

15,905 

(388) 

1,053 

665 

16,570 

2023 

100,662 

53,539 

60,638 

21 ,304 

2022 

20,072 

4,731 

(5,605) 

53 

19,251 

33 132 Settlement (gain) loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ( 1 ,3 7 4) 
------

13,060 $ 15,449 Total pension expense .................................. ~$======'~=~======'~= ~$===17~,=87=7= 

The components of net periodic pension cost other than the service cost component are included in other (income) 
expense, net in our Consolidated Statements of Income. 
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The following table summarizes the weighned-avcrage assumptions used in computing the net periodic pension cost and 
projected benefit obligations: 

Discount rate for determining net periodic pension cost ....... . 

Discount rate for determining benefit obligations at December 31 .. . 

Rate of compensation increase for determining net periodic pension 
cost ....... . 

Rate of compensation increase for determining benefit obligations at 
December 31 

Expected rate of return on plan assets for determining net perioruc 
pension cost . 

For· ttite YeaJ" E nded December· 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

3.8% 4.2% 2.6% 

3.8% 3.8% 4.2% 

3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 

3.8% 3.7% 3.6% 

4.5% 4.1% 3.8% 

The measmement date for determining the Plans' assets and benefit obligations is December 31, each year. Discount 
rates are generally derivedl from yield curves constructed from high-quality corporate or foreign government bonds, for 
which the timing and amount of cash outflows approximate the estimated payouts. 

The expected rate of return assumption is based on weighted-average expected returns for each asset class. Expected 
returns reflect a combination of historical performance analysis and the forward-looking views of the financia l markets 
and include input from om actuaries. We have no control over the direction of om investments in om defined benefit 
plans in Taiwan as the local Labor Standards Law Fund mandates such contributions into a cash accatmt balance at the 
Bank of Taiwan. Om defined benefit pension plan in Malaysia is a non-funded plan, and as such, no asset exists related 
to this plan. Our investment strategies for our defined benefit plans in Japan, Korea and the Philippines are based on 
long-term, sustained asset growth through low to medium risk investments. The current rate of return assumption targets 
are based on asset allocation strategies as follows: 

Allocation 

Debt Equity Other· 

Japan defined benefit plan ............................ . 64% 34% 2% 

Korea defined benefit plan ..................................... . 30% 20% 50% 

Philippine defined benefit plan .................................. . 50% 45% 5% 
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The fair value of our pension plan assets, by asset category utilizing the fair value hierarchy as discussed in Note 16, is as 
follows: 

December 31, 2024 Decem be•· 31, 2023 

Cash and! cash equivalents . . . . . $ 

Equity securities ............ . 

Debt securities 

Govemment bonds 

Corporate bonds ......... . 

Treasury notes ........... . 

Mutual and comiTiingled funds 

Equity funds 

Debt fw1ds 

Guaranteed investment contracts 

Taiwan retirement f1md 

Other, net ............ . 

Total fair value of pension plan 

Level 1 Lcvcl 2 

(In thousands) 

749 $ 

14,276 

3,712 

1,259 

11,881 

11,950 

18,210 

12,428 

7,270 

12,516 

30,365 

666 

$ 

Total 

749 $ 

14,276 

3,712 

1,259 

11,881 

19,220 

30,726 

30,365 

12,428 

666 

Level l Lcvcl2 

(In thousands) 

217 $ 

13,680 

3,674 

1,130 

11,993 

29,016 

12,031 

12,478 

7,807 

13,163 

23,189 

818 

$ 

Total 

217 

13,680 

3,674 

1,130 

11,993 

36,823 

25,194 

23,189 

12,478 

818 

assets ..................... $ 74,465 $ 50,817 $ 125,282 $ 84,219 $ 44,977 $ 129,196 

The Taiwan retirement fund category of our plan assets represents accmmts that our subsidiaries in Taiwan have in a 
government labor retirement fund in the custody of the Bank of Taiwan. The accounts earn a minimum guaranteed rate 
of return and arc invested in a mix of cash, domestic and foreign equity securities and domestic and foreign debt 
securities. 

We expect to make contributions of approximately $10 million during 2025. We closely monitor the funded status of the 
Plans with respect to legislative requirements. We intend to make at least the minimum contribution required by law 
each year. 

The estimated future benefit payments related to our foreign defined benefit plans are as follows: 

2025 ............................................................................... $ 

2026 .............................................................................. . 

2027 .............................................................................. . 

2028 .............................................................................. . 

2029 .............................................................................. . 

2030 to 2034 

JJefined Contribution Plans 

Payments_· _ 

(In thousands) 

9,307 

11 ,145 

13,419 

14,037 

13,922 

97,256 

We sponsor defined contTibution plans in Korea, Malaysia, Taiwan and the U.S. Total defined contribution expense was 
$26.5 million, $27.0 million and $24.2 million for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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13. Dividends 

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which we currently pay a regular quarterly cash 
dividend on our common stock. ln November 2024, our Board of Directors approve<i a quarterly dividend of $0.08269 
per share, a 5% increase from the rate set in November 2023. The Board of Directors also approved a special cas.h 
dividend of$0.40546 per share, or approximately $100 million, on the company's common stock. 

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

The following table reflects the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income Ooss), net of tax: 

Unrealized Gain 
(l. osscs) on 

Available-fo•·- Foreign 
Sale Debt Defined Benefit Currency 

Investments (1) Pension (2) Translation (3) Total 

(In thousands) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (1,573) $ 14,220 $ 4,052 $ 16,699 

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications 2,265 1,731 (3,819) 177 

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) .... . . . . . . . . . . (480) (46) (526) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) ........... 1,785 1,685 (3,819) (349) 

Balance at December 31 , 2023 .............. $ 212 $ 15,905 $ 233 $ 16,350 

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications ....... .................. (469) 1,053 (8,783) (8, 199) 

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) ................ (253) (388) (641) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) ........... (722) 665 (8,783) (8,840) 

Balance at December 31 , 2024 •• 0 ••••••••••• $ (510) $ 16,570 $ (8,550) $ 7,510 

(1) Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are included as other (income) 
expense, net (Note 3). 

(2) Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are included as a component of net 
periodic pension cost (Note 12) or other (income) expense, net (Note 3). 

(3) Beginning in 2024, foreign currency translation includes the gain (loss) from net investment hedges (Note 15). 

15. Derivatives 

We use foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate foreign currency risk of certain assets and monetary tiabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies. We do not enter into such contracts for trading or speculative purposes. These 
derivative instruments are not designated as hedging instruments. 

We hedge certain net investment positions in foreign subsidiaries. To accomplish tllis, we enter into foreign currency 
forward contracts, generally settled monthly, that are designated as hedges of net investments. 
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As ofDecember 31,2024 and 2023, our foreign exchange forward contracts consisted of the following: 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Notional Fair Value Balance Sheet Notional 
Value (Level2) Location Value 

(ln thousands) 

Forward contracts not designated as hedging instruments 

Other current 
Japanese yen ............. $ 254,783 $ 10 assets $ 279,027 

Accrued 
Korean won ............. 80,260 (472) expenses 59,036 

Accrued 
Philippine peso ........... 8,431 (29) expenses 6,553 

Accrued 
Singapore dollar .......... 8,454 (39) expenses 11,506 

Accrued 
Taiwan dollar ............ 31' 150 (70) expenses 37,914 

Total forward contracts not 
designated as hedging 
instruments ............ $ 383,078 $ (600) $ 394,036 

December 31, 2024 

Notional Fair Value Balance Sheet Notional 
Value (Lcvd 2) Location Value ----

(ln thousands) 

Forward contracts designated as net investment hedging instruments 

Japanese yen ............. $ 123,042 $ 

Total forward contracts 
designated as net 
investment hedging 

Accrued 
(83) expenses $ 

Fair Value Balance Sheet 
(Level 2) Location 

Other current 
$ 2,745 assets 

Accrued 
(97) expenses 

Accrued 
(20) expenses 

Other current 
20 assets 

Other current 
89 assets 

$ 2,737 

December 31,2023 

F:1ir Value Balance Sheet 
(l. cvel 2) Location 

$ N/A 

instruments . . . . . . . . . . $ 123,042 =$==~(8=3::f:) $ - ==$=== 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred a net loss of $14.0 million due to the impact of derivatives not 
designated as hedging instruments, which includes the forward costs, and the related hedged items. For the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the derivatives not designated as hedging instruments resulted in a net loss of $38.6 
million and $60.2 million, respectively, which were partially offset by the foreign currency gains associated with the 
underlying net liabilities. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, a gain of $4.4 million was recognized in other (income) expense, net for the 
difference between the forward rate and the spot rate of the net investment hedge. For the year ended December 31, 
2024, a gain of $1.0 million was recognized in other comprehensive [nco me (loss) for the changes in fair value of the net 
investment hedge. There was no activity related to net investment hedges for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022. 
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16. Fair Value Measurem ents 

The accounting framework for determining fair value includes a hlerarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the 
infonnation used to measure fair value, which enables the reader of the financial statements to assess the inputs used to 
develop those measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of three tiers as follows: Level 1, defined as quoted 
market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as inputs other than Level I that are 
observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets 
that are not active, model-based valuation teclmiques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market 
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the 
assets or liabilities; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. For our Level 
2 short-tenn investments, we consider factors such as actual trade data, benchmark yields, broker/dealer quotes, and 
other similar data obtained from quoted market prices and independent pricing vendors to dctcnnine the fair value of 
these assets and liabilities. 

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, trade accounts payable, capital expenditures payable, and certain other 
current assets and accrued expenses approximate carrying values because of their short-tenn nature. The carrying value 
of certain other non-current assets and liabi lilies approximates fair value. Our assets and liabilities recorded at fair value 
on a recurring basis include restricted cash money market funds and short-tenn investments, including investments 
classified as cash equivalents. Cash equivalent money market funds and restricted cash money market fimds are invested 
in U.S. money market funds and various U.S. and foreign bank operating and time deposit accounts, which are due on 
demand or carry a maturity date of less than three months when purchased. No restrictions have been imposed on us 
regarding withdrawal of balances with respect to our cash equivalents as a result of liquidity or other credit market issues 
affecting the money market funds we invest in or the countcrparty financial institutions holding our deposits. 

Our derivative financial instruments are valued using quoted market prices for similar assets. Counterparties to these 
derivative contracts arc highly rated financial institutions. 

We also measure certain assets and liabilities, including property, plant and equipment and goodwill, at fair value on a 
nonrecurring basis. 

We measure the fair value of our debt for disclosure purposes. The following table presents the fair value of our debt: 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Fail- Carr·ying Fair Carrying 
Value Value Value Value 

(In thousands) 

Senior notes (Level I) $ 525,562 $ 522,615 $ 531,778 $ 521 ,839 

Revolving credit facilities and tenn loans (Level2) 625,818 636,845 666,316 681,617 

Total debt ............................... $ 1,151,380 $ 1,159,460 $ 1,198,094 $ 1,203,456 

The estimated fair value of om senior notes is based primarily on quoted market prices reported on or near the respective 
balance sheet dates. The estimated fair value of om revolving credit facilities and term loans is calculated using a 
discounted cash flow analysis, which utilizes market-based assumptions including forward interest rates adjusted for 
credit risk. 

17. Commitments and Contingencies 

We generally warrant that our services wil] be perfonned in a professional and workmanlike manner and in compliance 
with our customers' specifications. We accrue costs for known warranty issues. Historically, our warranty costs have 
been immaterial. 

Legal Proceedings 
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We arc involved in claims and legal proceedings and may become involved in other legal matters arising in the ordinary 
course of our business. We evaluate these claims and legal matters on a case-by-case basis to make a determination as to 
the impact, if any, on OUE business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. AJthough the 
outcome of these matters is uncertain, we believe that the ultimate outcome of these claims and proceedings, individually 
and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse impact to us. Our evaluation of the potential impact of these 
claims and legal proceedings on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows could 
change in the future. 

18. Business Segments, Customer Concentrations and Geographic Information 

We operate as a single operating segment as managed by our Chief Executive Officer, who is considered our chief 
operating decision maker ("CODM''). The CODM bears the ultimate responsibility for, and is actively engaged in, the 
allocation of resources and the evaluation of our operating and financial results. We have concluded that we have a 
single operating segment based on the following: 

We are managed under a functionally-based organizational. structure with the head of each function reporting 
directly to the CODM; 

Our CODM assesses performance, including resource allocation, trend identification and variance analysis, 
based on consolidlated operating performance and fmancial results based on net income; 

Our CODM allocates resources and makes other operating decisions based on specific customer business 
opportunities; and 

We have an integrated process for the design, development and manufacturing services we provide to all of our 
customers. We also have centralized sales and administrative functions. 

The following table presents revenue, profit or loss and significant segment expenses for our single operating segment: 

F01· the Yea•· Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Net sales . . . . ' .... • • • • • • • • • • .. • • 0 ••• ••••••• 0 •• • • 0 • $ 6,317,692 $ 6,503,065 $ 7,091 ,585 

Less: 

Materials cost of sales •••••••• 0 ••• 0 ••• 0 •••••• 0 •• . . . . . . 3,478,752 3,584,090 3,646,188 

Labor cost of sales . .................................. 628,201 643,993 712,070 

Depreciation cost of sales . . . .. ~ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 534,921 576,120 565,455 

Other cost of sales .......... . ........................... 742,606 755,709 837,885 

Selling, general and administrative ......................... 331 ,806 295,393 283,372 

Research and development ............................... 162,951 177,473 149,429 

Interest expense . ............. . ........ . .... . ........... 64,945 59,000 58,563 

Income tax expense 75,481 81 ,710 89,890 

Other segment items ( I ) ........................ (57,50~) (32,554) (18,309) 

Segment net income ........................... . ........... $ 355,535 $ 362,131 $ 767,042 
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements- (Continued) 

(1) Other segment items included in segment net income includes interest income, foreign currency (gain) loss, net, 
loss on debt retirement and other (income) expense. 

The following table represents other balances included in net income or that arc regularly provided to the CODM: 

December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Interest income .......................................... . $ 65,541 $ 48,458 $ 12,762 

Depreciation and amortization expense . . . . . .. (594,663) (631 ,508) (612,702) 

Total assets .............. . 6,944,328 6,771 ,125 6,821 ,757 

Capital expenditures . . ........................... . (743,796) (749,467) (908,294) 

Net sales ·by product group consist of U1c following: 

For· tlite Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

Advanced Products . $ 5,174,459 $ 5,032,859 $ 5,367,589 

Mainstream Products ..................................... . 1,143,233 1,470,206 1,723,996 

Total net sales ........................................ . $ 6,317,692 
=~=~= 

$ 6,503,065 $ 7,091 ,585 

(1) Advanced Products include nip chip, memory and wafer-level processing and related test servkes. 

(2) Mainstream Products include all other wirebond packaging and related test services. 

Net sales by end market consist of the following: 

1<01· tbe Year Ended December 31, 

Communications (smartphoncs, tablets) ....... . 

Computing (data center, infrastructure, PC!laptop, storage) ....... . 

Automotive, industrial and oU1er (ADAS, electrification, 
infotainment, safety) 

Consumer (AR & gaming, connected home, home electronics, 
wearables) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ............................ . 

2024 

48% 

19% 

18% 

15% 

2023 2022 

50% 44% 

16% 16% 

21% 20% 

13% 20% 

100% 100% 100% Total net sales ......................................... ====== ====== ====== 

Net sales by region based on customer headquarters location consist of the following: 

For· tlite Year- Ended December 31, 

2024 

Europe, Middle East and Africa 

Japan 

.......................... $ 817,875 

800,713 

Asia Pacific (excluding Japan) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 716,344 ___ ____:__ __ 
Total foreign countries ................................. . 2,334,932 

United States ........................................... . 3,982,760 __ _:______:__ __ 

$ 

2023 2022 

(In thousands) 

1,043,880 $ 1,084,853 

935,620 1,132,121 

704,520 1,017,246 

2,684,020 3,234,220 

3,819,045 3,857,365 

6,317,692 $ 6,503,065 $ 7,091 ,585 Total net sales ......................................... =$=~=~= ====~~==== ====~===~=== 
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued) 

ln 2024, 2023 and 2022 one customer accounted for 30.8%, 27.7% and 20.6% of total net sales, respectively. In 2024 
and 2022. a second customer accounted for I 0.2% and 10.1% of total net sales, respectively. 

Property, plant and equipment, net, based on physical location, consist of the following: 

Decem be.- 31, 

2024 2023 

(In thousands) 

China ................................................................ $ 308,889 $ 385,544 

Japan ............................................................... . 139,126 143,399 

Korea . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .......... · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 1,923,953 1,781 ,632 

Malaysia ............................................................ . 55,166 51 ,164 

Philippines ........................................................... . 172, 180 183,430 

Portugal ............................................................. . 130,653 108,982 

Tajwan .............................................................. . 322,539 272,428 

Vietnam ............................................................. . 471 ,581 365,059 

Other foreign countries ................................................. . 1,553 272 

Total foreign countries ............................................... . 3,525,640 3,291 ,910 

United States ......................................................... . 50,508 7,535 

3,576,148 $ 3,299,445 Total property, plant and equipment, net .................................. ~$=~==="'~~ ~=~~== 
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SCHEDULE ll-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance: 

Balance at 
Beginning of 

PHiod 

Y car ended at December 31 , 2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 

Year ended at December 31, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 

122,357 

101 ,869 

Y car ended at December 31 , 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 114,811 
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Additions 
(C•·cditcd) 
Charged to 

Expense Write-offs 
Balance at 

End of Period 

(In thousands) 

(2,726) $ 

(2,896) $ 

101,869 

114,811 

(17. 762) 

15,838 

(3,633) (4,065) $ 107,113 



Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting am/ Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procetlures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in 
our periodic reports to the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC' s rules and fonns, and that such infonnation is accumulated and communicated! to our management, including the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure, based on the definition of"disclosure controls and procedures" in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, 
management recognizes that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can 
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily is required to 
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. 

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief 
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as of December 31 , 2024, and concluded those disclosure controls and procedures were effective 
as of that date. 

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect tl1e transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to pennit preparation of fmancial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accmmting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fmancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may 
deteriorate. 

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2024, based on the framework established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (20 13) issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on the results of this 
evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 
31, 2024, based on criteria in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (20 13) issued by the COSO. 

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 , 2024, has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting finn, as stated in their report which appears 
under Item 8 of this Form 1 0-K. 
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended 
December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information 

During the three months ended December 31 , 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 
I Ob5- l trading arrangement" or "non-Rule I Ob5-l trading arrangement," as such terms are defined in paragraphs (a) and 
(c), respectively, ofltem 408 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

On Febmary 20, 2025, the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Company amended and restated the Restated Bylaws 
of the Company (as amended and restated, the "Bylaws"), effective February 20, 2025. The changes to the Bylaws 
include the following: 

Sections l.I and 1.2 were amended to clarify that annual meetings and special meetings of the Company' s 
stockholders may be held in whole or in part by means of remote communication. 

Sections 1.4 and 1.5 were amended to clarify and further enJ1ance procedural mechanics and informational 
requirements in connection with stockholder nominations of directors and submissions of stockholder proposal s 
pursuant to the advance notice provisions of the Bylaws, including updates to reflect the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission's adoption of "universal proxy" mles as set forth in Rule 14a-l9 ("Rule 14a-19") tmder 
the Exchange Act. The amended advance notice provisions now require, among other things, that (a) 
stockholders seeking to nominate directors pursuant to Rule 14a-1 9 comply with the requirements of such rule 
and certify such compliance prior to the applicable meeting, (b) nominating stockholders and their nominee(s) 
disclose their respective holdings of, and arrangements relating to, shares of the Company, including any 
agreements, plans or proposals that would be required to be disclosed on Schedule !3D under the Exchange 
Act, (c) any Proposing Person(s) (as defined in the Bylaws) provide in the required notice additional 
background information, disclosures, and representations with respect to such Proposing Person(s), any 
proposed director nominees, and any proposed business, and (d) the Proposing Person(s) update such notice, if 
necessary, so that it remains true and correct closer to the meeting date. 

Section 1.9 was amended to provide that any stockholder soliciting proxies from other stockholders must use a 
proxy card color other than white, which will be reserved for the exclusive use by the Board. 

Section 2.7 was amended to clarifY that the Board may elect one of its members to serve as chairman, and that 
the Board may appoint, in its discretion, a vice chairman. 

Section 6.1 was amended to clarify that the term "officer," as used in the indemnification provisions of Artide 
VI of the Bylaws, shall refer exclusively to officers appointed by the Board pursuant to Article IV of the 
Bylaws, or, for entities other than the Company, to officers appointed by the equivalent governing body of such 
entity. 

Section 8.1 was amended to provide that the federa l district courts of the United States of America shall be the 
exclusive fomm for any actions against the Company arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 
The amended Section 8.1 also provides that stockholders who file a Foreign Action (as defined in the Bylaws) 
tliat falls within the scope of the Company' s forurii selectiori clause are deen1ed to have c011sented, for certain 
actions to enforce the Company' s fonun selection clause, to (a) the personal jurisdiction of the Delaware Court 
of Chancery and (b) having service of process made upon such stockholder's counsel in the Foreign Action. 

In addition, certain other ministerial, modernizing, clarifying and conforming changes were made to the Bylaws. The 
foregoing smnrnary of the changes effectuated by the amendment and restatement of the Bylaws does not purport to be 
complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Bylaws, a copy of which is included as an 
exhibit to this Annual Report on Fonn I 0-K. 
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Item 9C. Disclosure R:egarding Foreign .Turistlictions that Prevent Inspections 

Not applicable. 

PART ID 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The infonnation required by this Item I 0, with the exception of infonnation relating to our Insider Trading Policy (the 
"Insider Trading Policy") and our Code of Business Conduct (the "Code of Business Conduct") disclosed below, is 
incorporated herein by reference from the material included under the captions "Proposal One: Election of Directors," 
"Corporate Govemance," " Executive Officers" and "Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports" in our definitive proxy statement 
to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regu la tion 14A within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 in 
connection with our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Proxy Statement"). 

We have adopted insider trading policies and procedures governing the purchase, sale and other dispositions of securities 
of Amkor by directors, officers and employees that we believe are reasonably designed to promote compliance with 
insider trading laws, rules and regulations and applicable listing standards of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. Our 
insider trading policy states, among other things, that our directors, officers and employees are prohibited from trading in 
such securities while in possession of material, nonpublic infonnation. The foregoing summary of our insider trading 
policies and procedures does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to our Insider Trading Policy filed 
as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

The Code of Business Conduct is written and is applicable to all employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer and Controller. The Code of Business Conduct and our Code of Ethics for Directors, Corporate 
Governance Guidelines and the charters of the Audit Committee, Nominating and Governance Committee and 
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors are available and maintained on our website (http:// 
www.amkor.com). We intend to disclose on our website future amendments or waivers of the Code of Business Conduct 
required to be disclosed pmsuant to applicable rules and regulations. 

ltemll. Ex ecutive Compensation 

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference from the material included under the 
captions ''Director Compensation," "Executive Compensation," "Compensation Committee lnternocks and Insider 
Partic ipa6on" "Pay Ratio" and "Compensation Committee Report" in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Lmd Management and Related S tockholtler Matters 

The information required by this Item 12, with the exception of the equity compensation plan information presented 
below, is incorporated herein by reference from the material included under the caption "Security Ownership of Certain 
Beneficial Owners and Management" in the Proxy Statement. 
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EQUITY COMPENSATIO N PLAN 

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plan as of December 31 , 2024: 

(a) 
Numbet· of 

Secm·ities to be 
Issued Upon 
Exercise of 

Outstanding 
Options, Warrants 

and Rights 
(In thousands) 

(b) 
Weighted 
Average 

Exer·cise Price of 
Outstanding 

Options, Warrants 
and Rights (1) 

Equity compensation plan approved by stockholders (2) 

Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders 

3,252 (3) $ 10.07 

Total equity compensation plans .................... ===3='=25=2== 

(c) 
Number of Securities 
Remaining Available 
for Future Issuance 

Under· Equity 
Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities 

ReOected in Column( a)) 
(In thousands) 

19,378 (4) 

19,378 

( 1) Calculated without taking into account shares of common stock subject to outstanding RSUs and PSUs that will 
become issuable as those units vest without any cash consideration or other payment required for such shares. 

(2) Consists of the 2007 Plan and the 2021 Plan. 

(3) h1cludes 1.6 million shares of common stock subject to RSUs and PSUs, which entitle each l1older to one share 
of common stock for each unit that vests over the holder' s period of continued service or based on the 
achievement of certain performance criteria. 

(4) Represents the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Plan, as adjusted lo 
account for full-value awards, which reduce the shares of common stock available for future issuance at a 
fungible ratio of a: 1.5 for each fu]l-va1ue award previously awarded. The 2007 Plan terminated on the date of 
the 2021 Annual Meeting, and, accordingly, there were no shares available for future grants under the 2007 Plan 
as of December 31 , 2024. However, if an award under the 2021 Plan or under the 2007 Plan is forfeited, 
terminated, canceled, expires or is paid in cash, the shares subject to such award, to the extent of the forfeiture, 
termination, cancellation, expiration or cash payment, may be added back to the shares available for issuance 
under the 2021 Plan on a I: 1 basis for options and stock appreciation rights and on a 1.5: I basis for all other 
equity awards. 

The 2021 Plan, which was approved by our stockholders at the 2021 Annual Meeting, superseded and replaced the 2007 
Plan. As of December 31. 2024, a total of 19.4 million shares were available for issuance under the 2021 Plan. Shares 
available for issuance under our 2021 Plan can be granted pursuant to stock options, restricted stock, RSUs, stock 
appreciation rights, PSUs and performance shares. For additional information regarding the 2007 Plan and the 2021 
Plan, see Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

TI1e information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from the material included under the 
captions .. Corporate Governance - Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "Proposal One: Election of 
Directors" in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The infonnation required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the material included under the 
caption "Proposal Three: Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" in the Proxy 
Statement. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits 

The financial statements and schedules filed as part of this Form 10-K are listed in the index tmder Part II, Item 8 of 
this Form 1 0-K. 

The exhibits required by Ilem 601 of Regulation S-K that are filed with this Fom1 10-K or incorporated by reference 
herein are set forth below. Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements arc identified by an 
asterisk. 

Exhibit 
Numbc•· Exh ibit Description 

2.1 Sales Contract of Commodity Premises between 
Shanghai Waigaoqiao Free Trade Zone Xin 
Development Co., Ltd. and Amkor Assembly & Test 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. dated May 7, 2004. 

10-Q 

3.1 Certificate oflncorporation. S-1 

Incorporated by Reference 

Period Filing 
E nd ing Exhibit Date 

6/30/04 2.3 8/6/04 

3.1 

3.2 Certificate of Correction to Certificate of POSAM 

10/6/97 

8/26/98 
Incorporation. 

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Amkor Technology, 
Inc., effective February 20, 2025. 

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate. S-1 I A 

4.2 Indenture, dated March 15, 2019, by and between 8-K 
Amkor Technology, Inc. and U.S. Bank National 
Association, as trustee, regarding the 6.625% Senior 
Notes due 2027. 

4.3 Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered 
Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934. 

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and 
officers. 

10.2 2009 Voting Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2009, 
between Amkor Technology, Tnc., James J. Kim and 
915 Investments, LP. 

10.3 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the 
Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive 
Plan.* 

10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 
Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive 
Plan.* 

10.5 Form of Outside Director Stock Option Award 
Agreement under the Second Amended and Restated 
2007 Equity Incentive Plan.* 

10.6 Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive 
Plan* 

10.7 Amendment One to Second Amended and Restated 
2007 Equity Incentive Plan* 

10.8 Form of Global Stock Option Award Agreement under 
the Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity 
Incentive Plan.* 
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10-K 

S- 1/A 

8-K 

10-Q 

10-Q 

10-Q 

8-K 

10-Q 

10-Q 

12/31/19 

3/31/17 

3/31/17 

3/31/17 

6/30/19 

6/30/20 

4.1 

4.1 

4.3 

3/31 /98 

3/5/19 

2/19/20 

10.1 3/31 /98 

I 0.1 4/ 1/09 

10.2 5/5/ 17 

10.3 5/5/ 17 

10.4 5/5/17 

10.1 5/5/17 

10.3 8/ 1/ 19 

10.1 7/30/20 

Included 
Uerewith 

X 



Exhibit 
Numbe•· Exhibit Description 

10.9 Form of Global Restricted Stock Award Agreement 
under the Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity 
Incentive Plan.* 

I O.I 0 Form of Global Outside Director Nonstatutory Stock 
Option Award Agreement under the Second Amended 
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.* 

I 0 .II Form of Global Outside DiEector Restricted Stock 
Award Agreement under the Second Amended and 
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.* 

10.12 Form of Global Performance-Vested Restricted Stock 
Unit Award Agreement under the Second Amended 
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.* 

I 0.13 Form of Global Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit 
Award Agreement under the Second Amended and 
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.* 

I0.14 Amkor Technology, Inc. 202I Equity Incentive Plan* 

IO.I5 Amendment One to the Amkor Technology, Inc. 202I 
Equity Incentive Plan* 

IO.I6 Form of Global Non-Employee Director Nonstatutory 
Stock Option Award Agreement* 

I 0.17 Form of Global Non-Employee Director Restricted 
Stock Award Agreement* 

10.18 Form of Global Stock Option Award Agreement* 

10.19 Form of Global Restricted Stock Award Agreement* 

10.20 Form of Global Performance-Vested Restricted Stock 
Unit Award Agreement* 

10.21 Global Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Unit 
Award Agreement Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten 
December 2023* 

10.22 Global Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Unit 
Award Agreement Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten 
February 2024* 

10.23 Form of Global Performance-Vested Restricted Stock 
Unit Award Agreement since December 2023* 

I 0.24 Form of Global Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit 
A ward Agreement* 

I0.25 Global Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Award 
Agreement Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten December 
2023* 

I 0.26 Global Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit Award 
Agreement Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten February 
2024* 

10.27 Form of Global Non-Employee Director Time-Vested 
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement* 

I0.28 Second Amended and Restated Non-Employee 
Director Compensation Policy* 

I0.29 Third Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director 
Compensation Policy* 

10.30 Fourth Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director 
Compensation Policy* 
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Fo•·m 

10-Q 

10-Q 

10-Q 

8-K 

8-K 

8-K 

10-K 

8-K 

8-K 

8-K 

8-K 

8-K 

10-K 

10-K 

lncorp01·ated by Reference 

Pe1·iod Filing 
End ing Exhibit Date 

6/30/20 I 0.2 7/30/20 

9/30/20 10.1 10/30/20 

9/30/20 I 0.2 10/30/20 

IO.I 2/5/2I 

I0.2 2/5/2I 

IO.I 5/20/2I 

I2/3I/2I I0.36 2/1 8/22 

I0.2 5/20/2I 

I 0.3 5/20/21 

10.4 5/20/21 

10.5 5/20/21 

1 0.6 5/20/21 

12/31/23 10.21 2/16/24 

12/3 1/23 10.22 2/16/24 

10-K 12/31/21 10.35 2/18/22 

IO-K I2/3 I/22 I0.25 2/22/23 

l 0-Q 06/30/24 l O.I 7/30/24 

Included 
liel'ewitb 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 



Exhibit 
Numbe•· Exhibit Description 

10.31 Amended and Restated Executive Incentive Bonus 
Plan* 

10.32 Employment Letter Agreement, dated June 24, 2020, 
between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Guillaume 
Marie Jean Rutten.* 

10.33 Executive Severance Agreement, dated November 15, 
2022, between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Giel 
Rutten* 

10.34 Executive Severance Agreement, dated November 15, 
2022, between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Megan 
Faust* 

10.35 Executive Severance Agreement, dated November 15, 
2022, between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Farshad 
Haghighi* 

10.36 Executive Severance Agreement, dated November 15, 
2022, between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Mark 
Rogers* 

10.37 Executive Severance Agreement, dated February 13, 
2023, between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Kevin 
Engel* 

10.38 Secured Facility Agreement, dated March 28, 2022, 
between Amkor Technology, Inc., as parent, Amkor 
Technology Singapore Holding Pte. Ltd., as borrower, 
the subsidiaries of the borrower set forth in the 
schedules thereto, as original guarantors, the 
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation 
Limited, Singapore Branch ("HSBC") and DBS Bank 
Ltd., each as mandated lead arranger and bookrunncr, 
the other frnancial institutions party thereto, as lenders, 
HSBC, as agent and offshore security trustee, and 
CTBC Bank Co., Ltd., as onshore security agent. 

19.1 Insider Trading Policy of Amkor Technology, Inc. 

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant. 

23 .I Consent of PriccwatcrhouscCoopcrs LLP. 

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the Signatures page of 
this Report on Form 1 0-K). 

31.1 Certification of Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten, Chief 
Executive Officer of Amkor Technology, Inc., 
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

31.2 Certification of Megan Faust, Chief Financial Officer 
of Amkor Technology, Inc., Pursuant to 
Rule 13a-14(a) under the Secmities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended. 

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes­
Oxley Act of2002. ** 

97.1 

10l.INS 

Excess Compensation Recovery Policy.* 

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance 
document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because its XBRL tags arc embedded within the Inlinc 
XBRL document. 
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Fo•·m 

8-K 

10-Q 

10-K 

10-K 

10-K 

10-K 

10-K 

8-K 

10-K 

lncorp01·ated by Reference 

Pe1·iod Filing 
End ing Exhibit Date 

I0.2 5/5/ 17 

6/30/20 10.3 7/30/20 

12/31/22 10.30 2/22/23 

12/31/22 10.31 2/22/23 

12/3 1/22 10.32 2/22/23 

12/3 1/22 10.33 2/22/23 

12/31/22 10.34 2/22/23 

I 0.1 3/29/22 

12/3 1/23 97.1 2116/24 

Included 
liel'ewitb 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 



Exhibit 
Numbe•· Exhibit Description 

lOI.SCH lnline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

lOl.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 
Linkbase Document 

I 0 !.LAB In line XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Link base 
Document 

I OI.PRE In line XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase Document 

I OI.DEF In line XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 
Linkbasc Document 

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) 

Fo•·m 

lncorp01·ated by Reference 

Pe1·iod 
End ing Exhibit 

* Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement. 

**Furnished herewith 

t Exhibit includes confidential information that has been redacted. 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant 
has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed, on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized. 

AMK.OR TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

By: /s/ Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten 

Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Date: February 21 , 2025 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 
appoints Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten and Megan Faust, and each of them, his or her attorneys-in-fact, and agents, each 
with the power of substitution, for and in the name, place and stead of such person, in any and all capacities, to sign any 
and all amendments to this Form 10-K, and all documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and 
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents 
and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confonning all that said attorneys-in-fact and 
agents of any of them, or his, her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Form 10-K has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Name 

Is/ Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten 

Guillaume Marie Jean Rutten 

Is/ Megan Faust 

Megan Faust 

Is/ Susan Y. Kim 

Susan Y. Kim 

Is/ Douglas A. Alexander 

Douglas A. Alexander 

Is/ Roger A. Carotin 

Roger A. Carotin 

Title 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Date 

February 21, 2025 

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and February 21 , 2025 
Treasurer 

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting 
Officer) 

Chairman 

Director 

Director 
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February 21 , 2025 

February 21 , 2025 

February 21 , 2025 



Name Title Date 

Is/ Winston J. Churchill Director February 21 , 2025 

Winston J. Churchill 

Is/ Daniel Liao Director February 21 , 2025 

Daniel Liao 

Is/ John Liu Director February 21, 2025 

John Liu 

Is/ MaryFrances McCourt Director February 21 , 2025 

MaryFrances McCourt 

lsi Robert R. Morse Director February 21, 2025 

Robert R. Morse 

Is/ Gil C. Tily Director February 21, 2025 

Gil C. Tily 

Is/ David N. Watson Director February 21 , 2025 

David N. Watson 
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